IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Mar 27 2023 10:49 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

ABEL CÁNTARO CASTILLO,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 85926

VS.

WESTERN RANGE ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

U.S. District Court Case No.: 3:16-cv-00237-RCJ-CLB

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Christine E. Webber (admitted *pro hac vice* to the U.S. District Court for Nevada)
Cohen Milstein Sellers & Toll PLLC
1100 New York Ave. NW, 5th floor
Washington, DC 20005
(202) 408-4600
cwebber@cohenmilstein.com

Mark R. Thierman, NV Bar No. 8285 mark@thiermanbuck.com
Joshua D. Buck, NV Bar No. 12187 josh@thiermanbuck.com
Leah L. Jones, NV Bar No. 13161 leah@thiermanbuck.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Rule 5(a) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure and its Order Accepting Certified Question and Directing Briefing. *See* Appellant's Appendix "AA" Vol. 5, pp. 761-62. This certification proceeding does not require the establishment of timeliness, under NRAP 28(a)(3)(B).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively and properly retained by the Supreme Court under the authority of NRAP 17(a)(6) which provides that "[t]he Supreme Court shall hear and decide... [q]uestions of law certified by a federal court."

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR CERTIFICATION

The question of law certified by the United States District Court and accepted by this Court is as follows:

Under the Constitution of the State of Nevada and Chapter 608 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, does Nevada law require Defendant Western Range Association to pay Plaintiff Abel Cantaro Castillo 24 hours of wages for every day worked because Plaintiff Castillo was not allowed to leave and was always performing some job duties even though some of the time he spent on the range was for his personal benefit?

As discussed more fully in Argument Section I below, pursuant to its inherent discretion, *see Echeverria v. State*, 137 Nev. 486, 488-89, 495 P.3d 471, 474 (Nev. 2021), this Court should re-phrase the question of law that was certified by the United States District Court as follows:

Under the Constitution of the State of Nevada, what is the appropriate standard for determining what is "work" under Nevada's minimum wage law, including specifically the standard for determining when an employee has been "engaged to wait," which renders on call time "work."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a factually unique case under Nevada's wage and hour laws that involves a sheepherder who remains out "on the range" with a herd of sheep for the six months of each year that he worked in Nevada. The question certified to this Court is how to determine what constitutes "work" under Nevada's wage laws, which require all hours of work to be compensated. Fortunately, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit has provided a roadmap by using prior Nevada Supreme Court precedent to assess whether certain activities are deemed "work" under Nevada law. See In re: Amazon.com, Inc. Fulfillment Ctr. FLSA & Wage & Hour Litig., 905 F.3d 387, 397-99, 401 (6th Cir. 2018). As demonstrated by the Sixth Circuit, and the numerous prior precedent setting cases from this Court, federal wage-hour law under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), and its accompanying regulations, provide the standard for analyzing the certified question posed here.

Plaintiff-Appellant Abel Cántaro Castillo came to the United States under the H-2A visa program and worked as a sheepherder in Nevada. He worked for Defendant-Respondent Western Range Association ("WRA"). In this case Plaintiff Cántaro Castillo brings claims for violation of his contract with WRA, a contract created by the regulations governing the H-2A program,¹ for violation of Nevada's Minimum Wage Amendment,² and for failure to pay all wages due upon termination of employment.³ Plaintiff's claim for violation of his contract is predicated on the contract's promise to pay Nevada minimum wage if it were higher than federal minimum wage or the "adverse effects wage rate" established by the US Department of Labor under the H-2A regulations. 20 C.F.R. §§ 655.121(a)(1), 655.122(q). Thus, all of Plaintiff's claims turn on interpretation of Nevada's Minimum Wage Amendment ("MWA"), Nev. Const. art. 15, § 16, and whether Plaintiff's activities were "work" under the MWA.

Plaintiff filed this suit as a putative class action in the U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada. An initial dismissal based upon jurisdictional grounds was reversed by the Ninth Circuit. *Cantaro Castillo v. WRA*, 777 F. App'x 866 (9th Cir. 2019). Following discovery, the parties briefed Plaintiff's motion for class

¹ 20 C.F.R. § 655.121(a)(1), 655.122(q).

² Nev. Const. art. 15, § 16.

³ Nev. Rev. Stat. §§608.140, 608.040, and 608.050. Plaintiff's claim for failure to pay all wages due upon his termination is predicated on his contract and Nevada Minimum Wage Amendment claims.

While originally additional parties were named, the parties are currently limited to Plaintiff, who seeks to represent a class of herders who worked for WRA, and Defendant Western Range Association, which the District Court found was his joint employer.

certification, Plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment on WRA's status as a joint employer, and Defendant's motion for summary judgment. The district court ruled that WRA was Plaintiff's employer. AA Vol. 5, pp. 743, 744. The district court did not rule on WRA's motion for summary judgment, finding that to determine if Nevada's minimum wage amendment was violated, it needed to know how many hours Plaintiff had worked, which in turn required knowing what hours Nevada would count as work time where Plaintiff was required to remain out "on the range" with a herd of sheep for the six months of each year that he worked in Nevada (his remaining time was worked over the border in California, and is not part of his claims here). As neither parties nor the District Court identified any controlling Nevada authority on the question of what constitutes "work," the District Court certified the question to this Court. The circumstances of Plaintiff (and other herders) are extreme when compared to other cases claiming minimum wage for certain work—sheepherders are (i) out on the range for months on end; (ii) on call at all times when not actively completing required tasks; (iii) responsible for the health and safety of the sheep 24 hours/day, 7 days/week; and (iv) worked under conditions where they could not freely engage in his own chosen pursuits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. WRA Entered a Contractual Agreement to Pay Plaintiff

The H-2A temporary agricultural worker program requires employers seeking approval to bring in temporary foreign workers to file an application with the US Department of Labor ("DOL") which complies with applicable federal regulations. 20 C.F.R. §§ 655.121(a)(1), 655.130, 655.120(a)(2), 655.122, 655.135, and 655.210. These filings are deemed to create an employment contract.⁴ The contract created by regulation includes the promise to comply with governing law, including applicable laws regarding wages. Specifically, the contract promises to pay state minimum wage if it is higher than the adverse effects wage rate ("AEWR") established by the DOL.⁵ See also Castillo v. WRA, 2017 WL 1364584, *6 (D. Nev. July 19, 2019) ("as a matter of law, Plaintiffs' H-2A shepherd contracts included a promise to pay the applicable state minimum wage, if higher than the applicable AEWR") (citing Ruiz v. Fernandez, 949 F.Supp.2d 1055, 1072 (E.D. Wash. 2013)). Western Range is a party to this H-2A created contract, and is a joint employer of Plaintiff. See AA Vol. 5, pp. 743, 744.

⁴ 20 C.F.R. § 655.122(q); see also Arriaga v. Fla. Pac. Farms, LLC, 305 F.3d 1228, 1233 n.5 (11th Cir. 2002); Frederick Cnty. Fruit Growers Ass'n, Inc. v. Martin, 968 F.2d 1265, 1268 (D.C. Cir. 1992); Salazar-Calderon v. Presidio Valley Farmers Ass'n, 765 F.2d 1334, 1342 (5th Cir. 1985).

⁵ 20 C.F.R. § 655.122(q); 20 C.F.R. § 655.121(a)(1); Macker Decl. ¶¶ 7, 13, AA Vol. 2, pp. 204, 205.

The Minimum Wage Amendment to Nevada's Constitution, Nev. Const. art. 15, § 16, unlike the federal Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"), does not include any exemption for agricultural workers or those working out "on the range," as do the herders at issue here. The Minimum Wage Amendment directly requires payment to Plaintiff of at least minimum wage for each hour worked. In addition, since Nevada's minimum wage, considering the number of hours worked, is higher than the AEWR, the Minimum Wage Amendment also establishes the minimum that WRA is contractually obligated to pay to herders, including Plaintiff, who worked in Nevada.

B. <u>Plaintiff's Job Duties, and Hours</u>

1. Required Hours of Work

All of the relevant job orders and H-2A petitions state that Plaintiff was on call for up to 24 hours/day, 7 days/week.⁶ If the H-2A petitions did not specify that the herders were required to be available 24/7, then the visas could not have been issued under the special procedures for herders, and would have had to comply with the usual H-2A requirements of recording all hours worked, and paying the

⁶ See, e.g., Form 9142 ("On Call** 24 hours"), AA Vol. 2, p. 254; Form 9142 (2009-2010) ("ON CALL 24/7"), AA Vol. 4, p. 444; see also I-129 ("24/7 HOURS PER WEEK"), AA Vol. 3, p. 331; see also Macker Decl. ¶¶ 9, 15 (other WRA forms across the proposed class period are substantially similar), AA Vol. 2, pp. 204, 206.

minimum wage rate for each hour worked.⁷ In reliance on these provisions, neither WRA nor its member ranches such as El Tejon, where Plaintiff worked, maintained a record of hours worked.⁸

While neither WRA nor its member ranches tracked hours worked, the similarity of herders' job duties, the requirements of H-2A, and fundamentally the requirements of open range sheepherding combine to provide substantial corroboration for Plaintiff's testimony regarding his hours worked.⁹

If the herder is on call 24/7, and the special procedures apply, then the "employer is exempt from recording the hours actually worked each day." 20 C.F.R. § 655.210(f)(1); TEGL No. 32-10, Att. A, § I.C.7, AA Vol. 2, p. 287-88 ("Because the unique circumstances of employing sheepherders and/or goatherders (i.e., on call 24/7 in remote locations) prevent the monitoring and recording of hours actually worked each day as well as the time the worker begins and ends each workday, the employer is exempt from reporting on these two specific requirements of 20 C.F.R. § 655.122(j) and (k).").

⁷ DOL Training & Employment Guidance Letter, TEGL No. 32-10 (Special Procedures: Labor Certification Process for Employers Engaged in Sheepherding and Goatherding Occupations under the H-2A Program), Att. A, § I.C.1, AA Vol. 2, p. 286 ("If an application file for a sheepherder or goatherder does not include the requirements of being on call 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, the Chicago NPC may not process the employer's application under the special procedures enumerated in this TEGL, and must instead require compliance with all the requirements of the H-2A regulations outlined in 20 C.F.R. 655, Subpart B."); 20 C.F.R. § 655.200(b)(3) ("The procedures in this section ... apply to job opportunities with the following unique characteristicsThe work activities generally require the workers to be on call 24 hours per day, 7 days a week.").

⁸ Gragirena Decl. ¶¶ 17-18, AA Vol. 3, p. 348; Youree Dep. 224:11-226:4, 228:14-24 (it was not possible for ranches to track hours, WRA made no record of hours and did not expect ranches to do so), AA Vol. 2, pp. 260, 262, 263.

⁹ Plaintiff's proposed expert, Dr. Petersen, performed a pilot survey and wrote

2. <u>Plaintiff's Job Responsibilities</u>

WRA uses virtually identical job descriptions in all of its job orders and H-2A petitions, including on the forms specifically covering Plaintiff. *See, e.g.*, AA Vol. 4, p. 444; *see also* Macker Decl. ¶¶ 8, 14, AA Vol. 2, pp. 204-05. It closely tracks the job description included in the TEGL special regulations, TEGL, Att. A, § I.C.1, which states:

Attends sheep and/or goat flock grazing on the range or pasture. Herds flock and rounds up strays using trained dogs. Beds down flock near evening campsite. Guards flock from predatory animals and from eating poisonous plants. Drenches sheep and/or goats. May examine animals for signs of illness and administer vaccines, medications, and insecticides according to instructions. May assist in lambing, docking, and shearing. May perform other farm or ranch chores related to the production and husbandry of sheep and/or goats on an incidental basis.

AA Vol. 2, p. 286. WRA's member ranches, including El Tejon where Plaintiff worked, agreed that the job description was generally accurate.¹⁰

Melchor Gragirena, owner of the WRA member ranch where Plaintiff was assigned, specifically noted that herders guarded sheep from predators, sought to prevent the sheep from eating poisonous plants, and herded sheep to stay within

an expert report demonstrating the feasibility of scaling up his pilot survey in order to make class-wide projections of hours worked, post-class certification. *See* Petersen Report ¶ 4, AA Vol. 4, p. 355. The responses to the survey provide information from randomly selected herders identifying their job responsibilities and hours worked on the range which further corroborates Plaintiff Cántaro Castillo's testimony.

¹⁰ Gragirena Decl. ¶ 15, AA Vol. 3, p. 347.

the boundaries of their permitted range and avoid overgrazing.¹¹ Plaintiff Cántaro Castillo testified that during the entire time he was in Nevada, he was out on the range with his band of sheep, responsible for guarding them.¹²

A report commissioned by WRA describes sheepherders' responsibilities:

The open range sheepherder lives and travels with this band of sheep day and night, protecting the sheep from predators and from eating poisonous plants, moving the band to new grazing land each day and bedding them down at night. Typically, during a portion of the year the sheep range is in the mountains or desert, often in exceedingly remote areas.

. . .

A herder's "work day" typically consists of moving the sheep to new pasture in the morning, observing the sheep during the day as they graze to assure that there are no problems, bedding the band down at night, and being alert during the night for possible indications of predators. The presence of predators is usually signaled by the actions of the guard dogs or signs of restiveness among the sheep that experienced herders have learned to recognize.

Holt Report, AA Vol. 4, pp. 470, 475-76.¹³ The report author, Dr. Holt, also provided testimony, in which he concluded that, "open range sheepherding, where

¹¹ Gragirena Decl. ¶¶ 10, 15, AA Vol. 3, pp. 346, 347.

¹² Cántaro Castillo Dep. 43:17-24, 44:10-14, 45:4-10, 51:6-8, 144:4-24, AA Vol. 4, pp. 453-56, 463.

¹³ James S. Holt, Ph.D. was retained by WRA to prepare a report on sheepherding and testify before California's Industrial Wage Commission on behalf of WRA about the work that herders engage in; the Holt report was reviewed and approved by WRA. James S. Holt, Ph.D, The Open Range Sheep Industry ("Holt Report"), AA Vol. 4, p. 470; Richins Dep. 181-83, 193-94, 195, AA Vol. 4, pp. 497-99, 501-02, 503; *see also* WRA Comments, AA Vol. 4, p. 507.

the open range is used for pasture, is a labor-intensive undertaking because of the fact that it does require these herders to be with the sheep constantly." Holt Testimony, AA Vol. 2, pp. 238-39. This is consistent with the H-2A special regulations for herders, which apply only to positions in which the herder will be "on the range" for most of the workdays, and define "range" to exclude "any area where a herder is not required to be available constantly to attend to the livestock and to perform tasks, including but not limited to, ensuring the livestock do not stray, protecting them from predators, and monitoring their health." 20 C.F.R. §§ 655.200(b)(2), 655.201. Plaintiff was undisputedly "on the range" for all of the days he was in Nevada, 14 and thus was in an area where he was "required to be available constantly to attend [the sheep]." *Id.* This evidence all confirms Plaintiff's testimony that "we all worked ... all guarding as sheepherders all the time." Cántaro Castillo Dep. 44:10-14, AA Vol. 4, p. 454. 15

While herders are out on the range, they are on duty every day. 16 Moreover,

¹⁴ Gragirena Decl. ¶ 8, AA Vol. 3, p. 346.

¹⁵ Plaintiff was also required to answer phone calls from the ranch inquiring about the sheep. Cántaro Castillo Dep. 142:12-14, AA Vol. 4, p. 462. During dry periods, he had to haul water for the sheep. Gragirena Decl. ¶ 15, AA Vol. 3, p. 347.

¹⁶ Cántaro Castillo Dep. 51:9-11, AA Vol. 4, p. 456 (he worked every day); Filbin Dep. 47:13-48:15, AA Vol. 4, pp. 547-48; Espil Dep. 29:18-23, AA Vol. 5, p. 558 (sheep do not take weekends off so herders must watch over them every day); Knudsen Dep. 106:4-12, AA Vol. 5, p. 568; Borda Dep. 66:9-24, AA Vol. 5,

they must be on the lookout for and available to address any issues for the entirety of the day, even if they are not called upon to be active every moment of the day.¹⁷

p. 573; Dufurrena Dep. 80:24-81:5, AA Vol. 5, p. 584-85; Inchauspe Dep. 58:10-20, AA Vol. 5, p. 591; Wines Dep. 40:10-20, AA Vol. 5, p. 611; Snow Dep. 35:10-16, AA Vol. 5, p. 616; Little Decl. ¶ 16, AA Vol. 5, p. 627; Olagaray Decl. ¶ 13, AA Vol. 5, p. 634; Wright Dep. 76:4-11, AA Vol. 5, p. 640.

¹⁷ Espil Dep. 30:11-19, AA Vol. 5, p. 559; Knudsen Dep. 41:21-42:8, AA Vol. 5, pp. 563-64; Inchauspe Dep. 58:10-20, 77:12-78:6, 127:14-128:25, AA Vol. 5, pp. 591, 592-93. 604-05 (expect herders to be available and cover job responsibilities except at night when sleeping, even then would be available if called for wildfire or other danger, pays bounty on killing coyotes); 108:8-12, 109:17-110:2, AA Vol. 5, pp. 599, 600-01 (herder should pay attention to any changes in weather, etc., that could impact the sheep; herders should pay attention to sheep because there are always a few who will stray and needed to be brought back), 118:24-119:22, AA Vol. 5, pp. 602-03 (if herder hears thunder which could disturb the sheep, rancher hopes the herder will go out to make sure the storm doesn't scatter the sheep); Wines Dep. 40:10-20, AA Vol. 5, p. 611 (the herders live with the sheep so they are there 24 hours/day and are expected to be available if needed at any time during the 24 hour day); Snow Dep. 50:12-52:14, AA Vol. 5, pp. 617-19 (other than weekly break of 7-8 hours to travel to bunkhouse for shower and clean clothes, herders were expected to be on range with sheep they were responsible for); Dufurrena Dep. 27:23-28:9, AA Vol. 5, pp. 580-81(herders expected to be available in event of emergency); Etcheverry Dep. 43:21-45:5, AA Vol. 5, pp. 645-47 (not on call at night); Filbin Dep. 64:11-21, AA Vol. 4, p. 549 (expected to contact him about emergencies, any time day or night), 75:8-23, AA Vol. 4, p. 552 (expected to kill predators, or at least fire a round to scare them away if is night time), 113:11-17, AA Vol. 4, p. 555 (when on call herders are available for anything that arises, not always engaged in active work); Leinassar Dep. 56:21-57:13, 88:15-89:8, 114:19-115:4, AA Vol. 5, pp. 654-55, 656-57, 658-59 (herders' contract requires them to protect the sheep including from predators, but he also pays bounty for killing predators as incentive to be alert, aware, and watch the sheep; herders should be paying attention to the sheep regardless of where they are and what they are doing, except at night when it is too dark to move around safely); Vogler Dep. 22:3-13, 30:16-32:2, 40:15-24, AA Vol. 5, pp. 663, 664-66, 667 (bad sheepherders sit in their camp and don't watch the sheep as they

Like many jobs—security guards and firefighters, for example—a big part of the herder's job responsibility is to be constantly alert to any problems and able to quickly respond, a scenario referred to as "engaged to wait." As WRA represented to DOL, "Responding to health emergencies experienced by the animals can occur at any time of the day or night, as can responding to threats from predators." WRA Comments, AA Vol. 4, p. 523; *see also* Richins Dep. 185:2-7, AA Vol. 4, p. 500; Cántaro Castillo Dep. 44:10-14, 45:4-10, 51:6-8, 144:4-24, AA Vol. 4, pp. 454, 455, 456, 463. Ranchers pointed out that the sheepherders had agreed to accept this constant responsibility, stating, e.g.:

I believe in that job description, which is I believe in their native language, when we sign up for the program, all the issues are out there, they're out there to protect the sheep. They're out there to practice good animal husbandry, whether it's a poisonous plant, a predator, or finding the sheep good feed and water. It's not a surprise for them.

Vogler Dep. 40:15-21, AA Vol. 5, p. 667. The same rancher noted that a "poor sheepherder can cost you everything," and described poor sheepherders as:

Ones that sit in their camp and feel sorry for themselves, don't do their job, don't watch their sheep, let them stray off, let the coyotes eat them. There's many people – not many people that herd sheep, ma'am; it takes a special individual. And when you've got that special individual, you take care of them.

12

should; good herders will protect their sheep, even if it means sleeping out with the sheep, instead of in their sheep camp, to keep lambs from getting killed).

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