IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ABEL CÁNTARO CASTILLO,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed <u>No. 85906</u> 26 2023 07:29 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

WESTERN RANGE ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT WESTERN RANGE ASSOCIATION'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

ARGUMENT

I STANDARD OF REVIEW

NRAP 5 authorizes the Nevada Supreme Court to answer certified questions of law that may be determinative of the cause then pending in the certifying court. *Volvo Cars of N. Am., Inc. v. Ricci*, 122 Nev. 746, 747. The decision to consider any certified question is within the discretion of the Nevada Supreme Court. *Fed. Ins. Co. v. Am. Hardware Mut. Ins. Co.*, 124 Nev. 319, 322. The answering court is "limited to answering the questions of law posed to the answering court." See Progressive Gulf Ins. Co. v. Faehnrich, 130 Nev. 167, 170; In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings, L.L.C., 127 Nev. 941 (2011). The certifying court retains the duty to determine the facts and to apply the law provided by the answering court to those facts. *Id.* Accepting "the facts as stated in the certification order and its attachment[s]," if any, we limit our role "to answering the questions of law posed." *Mack v. Williams*, 522 P.3d 434, 440. See *In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings, LLC*, 127 Nev. 941, 955, 267 P.3d 786, 794-95 (2011). *In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings, LLC*, 127 Nev. 941, 955, 267 P.3d 786, 794-95 (2011). *In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings, LLC*, 127 Nev. 941, 955, 267 P.3d 786, 794-95 (2011). *See Echeverria v. State*, 495 P.3d 471, 474.

In the instant case, the Federal District Court has already determined that H-2A range livestock herders work different numbers of hours. 5 AA 757:16-24, 759: 1-3. As discussed above, Plaintiff/Appellant Castillo analyzed the number of hours he allegedly worked and the Federal District Court already factually recognized that some previously prospective class members including Castillo's co-workers at the El Tejon ranch work 35 hours per week, and some worked "only a few hours a day". 5 AA 758:1-7.

In the case at bar, Castillo stated that he was "working" when he slept, was on Facebook or otherwise not tending sheep. 4 AA 464:9-25. In contrast, 13 other herder Declarations (filed with the Federal District Court) led the Court to factually conclude that <u>not</u> all of Plaintiff/Appellant Castillo's days/time spent on the range were spent tending sheep, some was spent "eating, sleeping and for personal benefit". 8 RA 1632:11-14, 1632:18-19, 1639:4-7, 1646:21-23; 9 RA 1709:14-16.
II. THIS COURT DOES NOT NEED TO REPHRASE THE CERTIFIED QUESTION

Appellant seeks to rephrase the certified question to remove the factual findings of the district court that are detrimental to Appellant's position in this appeal. However, "[i]n answering certified questions, this court accepts the facts stated by the forwarding court in its certification order." *Parsons v. Colts Mfg. Co. LLC*, 137 Nev. 698, 702, 499 P.3d 602, 606 (2021) (citing *SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. Bank of N.Y. Mellon*, 134 Nev. 483, 489 n.5, 422 P.3d 1248, 1253 n.5 (2018)). Indeed, "the certifying court retains the duty to determine the . . . [t]his approach prevents the answering court from intruding into the certifying court's sphere by making factual findings or resolving factual disputes." *In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings*, 127 Nev. 941, 956, 267 P.3d 786, 795 (2011) (citations omitted). Furthermore, "this court may not use information in the appendix to contradict the certification order." *Id.*

Appellant would like to relitigate the district court's factual findings because it knows that regardless of what standard is applied, if it is true that "some of the time [Plaintiff] spent on the range was for his personal benefit" then Plaintiff is not entitled to pay for twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven days per week as Plaintiff's claims seek. Indeed, Appellant admits as much when it states "to ask whether time engaged in personal pursuits is 'hours worked' is to ask a circular question that assumes what this Court's answer will be."¹² Opening Br. at 20. For this reason, it is important this Court avoid rephrasing the question in a way that would permit Appellants to manipulate the process to result in a finding that contradicts the district court's factual findings contained within the certified question.

A second reason Appellants seek to rephrase the certified question is to delete the district court's reference to NRS 608. This is because NRS Chapter 608 contains several provisions which, if read together, give a clear indication of how the Nevada Legislature intended to set the outer-limits of what constitutes "work" under NRS 608. Appellant attempts to sidestep this analysis by arguing its claims

¹² It is likely that regardless of which set of laws this Court decides to apply, the answer to the certified question will be that Nevada law does not require Defendant to pay Plaintiff 24 hours of wages, seven days a week. This is because the district court has found Plaintiff spent time on the range for his personal benefit, and that such time is consistently determined not to include "work" under multiple different tests.

under NRS 608 are solely for the failure to pay wages, and the wages are determined by the MWA. However, this Court recently rejected a similar argument that if a group of individuals were "employees" for constitutional purposes, then consequently they would also be "employees" for purposes of applying NRS 608.040. *See Myers v. Reno Cab Co., Inc.*, 137 Nev. 365, 374, 492 P.3d 545, 554 (2021) (noting "[t]he separateness of the claims for relief is clear." This is consistent with the plain reading of the statutes Appellant is pursuing claims under. *See* NRS 608.140 ("for wages earned and due according to the terms of his or her employment"), NRS 608.040 ("the wages or compensation of the employee"), and NRS 608.050 ("the amount of any wages or salary then due them."). As a prior condition to determining what wages are owed, the Court would necessarily have to determine what hours the employee worked.

Fortunately, NRS 608 provides several indicators of what the Legislature intended to define as work. NRS 608.016 provides that an employer shall pay an employee wages "for each hour the employee works." Additionally, NRS 608.0126 provide that "workday" means "a period of 24 consecutive hours which begins when the employee begins work." This definition states an employee's workday does not begin until an employee begins work. Additionally, NRS 608.012's definition of "wages" provides that it includes the amount "for the time the employee has worked, computed in proportion to time. . . ." This would indicate the presumption in NRS 608 is that there are periods within which an employee is working, and an employee is not working.

Appellant's employment relationship was unique in that he was living in a mobile residence that was varying distances from the sheep,¹³ but this is not unprecedented. NRS 608.215 contains an entire scheme that defines how employees working as domestic service employees who reside in the household where they work should be compensated. *See* NRS 608.215(1). NRS 608.215(1) permits an employer under certain conditions to exclude from work time periods for meals, periods for sleep, and "[a]ny other period of complete freedom from all duties during which the domestic service employee may either leave the premises or stay on the premises for purely personal pursuits." Importantly, if during one of these periods of exclusion the employee is interrupted "by a call to duty by the employer, only the period of the interruption must be counted as hours worked for

¹³ The distance varied from day-to-day. On some days the sheep would be bedded down within sight and hearing of the herder, while on other days the sheep could neither be seen nor heard by the herder when he was at his residence. 8 RA 1677:3-6, 1684:20-23, 1690:16-20, 1697:1-3, 1646: 4-5; 1703:15-17. Also of significance, the sheep are normally bedded down twice per day. Once after being taken to water in the morning and again when they are moved to their evening bedding spot. 8 RA 1684:13-19, 1690:21-26, 1691:1-2; 9 RA 1715:12-15. Further, even this routine varied. For example, the sheep may be located in a valley that has feed and water. As a result, the herder may not need to move them for days or even a week. 8 RA 1696:10-12.

which compensation must be paid." NRS 608.215(2). A similar framework would make sense for H-2A workers like Appellant. Appellant is permitted meal breaks, periods for sleep, and spends time for his personal benefit. These are all categories of time that would logically be excluded from the period of time Appellant claims he worked.

Additionally, NRS 608.215(1)(c) provides this Court with some clarity regarding the juxtaposition raised in the certified question that while Plaintiff was not allowed to leave,¹⁴ he still had time for his personal benefit. NRS 608.215(1)(c) contemplates a scenario where an employee is unable to leave the home, but nevertheless is permitted to stay on the employer's premises and pursue personal pursuits. In the same way, even if Plaintiff was required to stay on the range,¹⁵ it is lawful for an employer in other contexts to deduct those hours the employee was permitted to pursue purely personal pursuits, and there is no reason

¹⁴ This is disputed. Evidence indicates that the herder was free to leave the camp and hike, fish, find reception to call friends or family, play soccer, visit other herders, etc. 8 RA 1632:11-14, 1632:18-19, 1639:4-7, 1646:21-23; 9 RA 1709:14-16; 2 AA 263:6-9; 5 AA 671:18-21, 677:2-5.

¹⁵ This phrasing itself can be tricky and somewhat misleading. Unlike other workplaces where the work location is controlled by the employer (e.g. residence, fire house, security shack, etc.) the majority of the "range" is on open BLM land. 2 AA 263:6-9; 5 AA 671:18-21, 677: 2-5; 5 RA 858:2-5. As a result, the herder likely has access to hundreds, if not thousands, of acres of space to roam, hunt, explore, etc., all of which area is not controlled by the employer.

this case should be any different. While this statute is not controlling authority for how this Court should resolve the certified question pursuant to NRS 608, it is persuasive Nevada authority this Court can use as a guide to the policy underlying the question presented.

Similarly, NRS 608.0195 provides an additional example of how the Nevada Legislature handles time spent sleeping for individuals who are considered "on duty" for the purposes of providing care to certain groups of persons either in a facility or in the recipient's home. In addition to permitting the parties to exclude up to (8) hours of wages for sleep, NRS 608.0195(2) is enlightening as to how to handle periods of interruptions for any call to service. NRS 608.0195(2) requires only periods of interruptions to be counted as "hours worked" and it also provides that if the interruption results in the sleeping period being less than five (5) hours, "the employee must be paid for the entire sleeping period."

NRS 608.0195(2) creates the strong presumption that those employees the statute covers, and for periods assigned to sleep, even where the employee remains "on duty" those are not necessarily work hours absent an "interruption." Additionally, it is also logical that for certain other types of calls for service that result in an employee rendering services "to such an extent that the sleeping period is less than 5 hours" that the employee would be entitled to payment for the entire period. However, the underlying presumption present in both of these scenarios is that the employee actually receives a call for service that results in an interruption of the sleeping period. As explained above, Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate how often he was interrupted and as a result cannot as a matter of law succeed in bearing his burden of proving underpayment claims.

Plaintiff's disputed allegations that even during his periods of sleep he needed to remain alert to protect the sheep from being eaten by a predator are analogous to the responsibility of a home care worker tasked with caring for an elderly patient in the patient's home. In determining whether Plaintiff is entitled to wages for the time Plaintiff spent sleeping, this Court should adopt the logic of NRS 608.0195 and find that if Plaintiff did not actually receive a call for service that resulted in an interruption of his sleeping period, he is not entitled to be compensated for the time he spent sleeping as that was for his personal benefit.

The Court can sensibly and analytically utilize the framework suggested by NRS 608 to determine how to decide how to calculate the wages owed to Appellant pursuant to the Minimum Wage Amendment as well. As this Court has observed, "the interpretation of a ... constitutional provision will be harmonized with other statutes." *Landreth v. Malik*, 127 Nev. 175, 180, 251 P.3d 163, 166 (2011) (citing *We the People Nevada*, 124 Nev. at 881, 192 P.3d at 1171). Where Nevada state statutes have already created a readily available and reliable method for determining whether periods of time spent for the employee's personal benefit are compensable, it is not necessary for this Court to adopt the Fair Labor Standards Act complex precedents surrounding compensable time.

In the event this Court is unwilling to fashion a framework from the pronouncements contained within NRS 608, this Court should avoid making broad pronouncements regarding the applicable standards for a Court to use in determining "what is work." Both parties' arguments recognize that Plaintiff's employment situation in this case is unique and at least somewhat dissimilar to a majority of work environments this Court is confronted with many unique to Nevada. As a result, this is not the appropriate factual setting for this Court to resolve broader issues of work in other employment situations. Instead, this Court should accept the certified question as written and respond in the negative.

III. The Drafters and the Electorate Intended the MWA to Only Apply to Time the Employee was Actually Working

"In interpreting an amendment to our Constitution, we look to rules of statutory interpretation to determine the intent of **both** the **drafters and the electorate** that approved it." *Ramsey v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 133 Nev. 96, 98, 392 P.3d 614, 616 (2017). In interpreting the MWA this Court has recognized "[t]o seek the intent of the provision's drafters or to attempt to aggregate the intentions of Nevada's voters into some abstract general purpose underlying the Amendment, contrary to the intent expressed by the provision's clear textual meaning, is not the proper way to perform constitutional interpretation." *Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp.*, 130 Nev. 484, 490, 327 P.3d 518, 522 (2014) (citations omitted).

Regardless of what question this Court elects to answer, in analyzing the MWA there is no indication from the text of the MWA that when it set the rate of "(\$5.15) per hour worked" that it meant to expand the definition of hours worked beyond those hours the ordinary voter understood employees to be working. It is unreasonable to suggest that when the voters enacted the MWA they implicitly intended to adopt the complex regulatory scheme of the FLSA. In fact, the definitions section of the FLSA alone is more than three (3) times the length of the entire MWA. *Compare* Article 15, Section 16 of the Nevada Constitution *with* 29 U.S.C. §203.

"The Constitution was written to be understood by the voters; its words and phrases were used in their normal and ordinary as distinguished from technical meaning." *Pohlabel v. State*, 128 Nev. 1, 9, 268 P.3d 1264, 1269 (2012) (citations omitted). Interpreting the intention of the voters in enacting the MWA is not some esoteric concept that requires extensive borrowing from regulatory guidance or caselaw. The concept of work is simple, "[p]hysical or mental effort or activity directed toward the production or accomplishment of something . . . [s]omething that has been done, made, or performed as a result of one's occupation, effort, or activity." WORK, Webster's II New Riverside University Dictionary (1st ed. 1984). It is plain that when Plaintiff was not directing his efforts towards the "production or accomplishment of something" he was not working in the eyes of the voters who enacted the MWA. *Id.* Additionally, during those periods of time in which the thing Plaintiff was doing, making, or performing was not as a result of his occupation, effort, or activity, that would not be considered work.

If, by enacting the MWA, the voters or drafters had intended to create a new framework that would alter Nevada law surrounding how the state treats employees who may or may not be considered "on call" or "on duty", they could have done so. But they did not, and this Court should not read such a complex regulatory framework into the use of the word "worked" in the MWA.

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